DISCLAIMERS

Due to the very real threat of doxxing, and harassment - | will preface this by saying |
wish to remain completely and utterly anonymous. Under no condition do | consent to
any portion of my identity being revealed for any reason in any way shape or form. I’'ve
been previously doxxed by members of ToastedCherries’s group, so I’'m playing it safe.

| also should state that specific members of this group use theatrics, really strange manipulation
tactics, as for “Bradley” [2] [3] Take everything you hear from them with a grain of salt.

I have no idea how this situation will play out or what the response / reaction will be to this
situation; so I’'m going to keep several names of non-public figures anonymous - including those
of who have abused me who Cherry continues to associate with. This isn’t to protect those
abusers, it’s to protect myself. With everything I've been through; and how it generally gives me
anxiety to have so much of my life be examined to every inch by the internet. | hope you, the
reader - understand my hesitation. This is also to prevent “Bradley” from doing any form of
suicide baiting to a wider audience as a manipulation attempt as a last ditch attempt for
sympathy.

A potential line of defense could be: “it was so long ago, we were kids.” While people who
commit abusive actions sometimes may have the potential to change over time, that requires
legitimate actions to grow, learn and correct your wrongs, not just sweeping it under the rug and
telling a victim to “move on,” then misleading them, gaslighting them, and continuing to
associate with abusers. Judging by the fact that this went on for years in a constant cycle of
lying and manipulation without any genuine apology, that’s a very clear evasion of responsibility
for the immense damage that has been caused and a generally alarming sign.

| understand that this is an alarming continued pattern. If there are any other potential victims of
people shown here who wish to come forward, they may come out and provide any evidence
needed. | am looking forward to helping anyone in need.

Some of the screenshots over time have different profile pictures, this is because they were
taken over different periods of time.

Finally, If you're someone who considers themselves friends with any of the people mentioned
here and you truly know you weren’t associated with this depraved behavior and this horrifies
you as much as it horrifies me; I’'m not referring to you when | say “ToastedCherries’s friend
group” AT ALL. | understand there’s the possibility that large chunks of evidence or information
may have been hidden. | use this term because it is easier.


https://psychcentral.com/blog/signs-of-an-emotionally-abusive-relationship
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Psychological_projection

| use color codes of people mentioned here because they’re far faster and easier to edit.
Most of these are pseudonyms.
ToastedCherries - No Color Code.

- “Bradley”

EEIEIEEN - “Charles”

Bl - “George”

OIENER - “Daniel”

B - Any person who'’s friends with or has been friends with TC | prefer not to name. It does
not refer to one person in particular.

(LEE - Me

Black - Completely redacted (to protect privacy.)

Introduction

| never wanted to make this document. | never thought in the first place, ever in my life that |
would have to make something like this. However, after talking with a lot of friends and people
who have been in similar situations, re-reading a lot of the messages, and reflecting on the
effects and traumatic scars of the situation that | still feel to this day | realize | should do the right
thing and not be scared into silence.

| was someone who was friends with ToastedCherries for a total of 5 years; we met on Roblox
while he had been playing on one of his first ever accounts (created on 11/26/2014). We quickly
became best friends, playing games nearly every day after school, helping each other out with
YouTube content and videos. This was around when he was an active part of the Orber
community, and also in the Super Mario 64 video community.

By early 2019, we had begun creating private Minecraft servers, which kickstarted our friend
group. | had invited some online, some real life friends that | had met; Cherry had invited some
of his. From there | invited “Bradley” who | just met and he invited “Charles.”

We all considered each other on the level of real life friends because of how close we all were.
Reflecting on this with a nuanced view however, it was not perfect. During the pandemic, we
had spent a lot more time with each other - as there wasn’'t much else to do. By a certain point,
several months later - there were constant fights, drama, extreme amounts of toxicity and
factionalization. There were a lot of really disturbing things that happened behind the scenes,
some that I'll go into detail about further in this document. Throughout it, | tried to generally keep
a cool head - | tried to be friends with everyone and be there for everyone. | tried to be nice and
generous.

At the same time, in my household; | had realized something pretty devastating. | had been
sexually assaulted throughout my childhood by someone who | lived with and trusted my entire
life. | considered them family. It threw me into a depression - large amounts of suicidal idealation
leading to several attempts, | didn’t want to believe it - because it shattered everything | thought
| knew about my life. Dealing with the situation made me severely suicidal.



That abusive person never associated with, or interacted with the online friend group | had; so |
wanted to naturally confide with my friends about everything | had been going through as | had
been bottling up for months. Being online generally felt like a gigantic escape from everything
happening around me. “Charles” immediately found what had happened hilarious. He sent
emojis of women in motorized wheel chairs, not caring - because that was funny to him.

B wif3c.png When | got uncomfortable, he claimed | was some sort of cry baby snowflake.
Eventually, a while later - he had made an apology, which | accepted at the time. | mention this
part for context.

As | said, the incredibly hard situation | had to deal with with my family made me re-examine so
much other strange events that happened in my life. It was pretty much living hell and
“Charles’s” outburst made me examine uncomfortable things that | had been consistently told for
years by members of the group.

For a period of 2 years before that, “Bradley” and “Charles” (who are friends of toastedcherries)
consistently and repeatedly told me and other people stories about how they had masturbated
together in a forest, to illegally and nonconsensually spread nudes of a girl in their school who
was a minor. They had said her age was 13. They had given me and later members of their
friend group the location of where the park where they had masturbated to those girl’s nudes,

B server2.png a YMCA facility in their home state; which | verified to be completely real upon a
quick google search.

B ymca facility.png All while doing this, they kept telling it because they found it really funny
and hilarious. By a certain point, they even went on to give me her name, her instagram,

By a certain point of the various times they had told me, this story made me severely
uncomfortable and concerned.

As | valued “Bradley” as a friend at the time, | tried to peacefully and respectfully discuss the
situation with him because | wanted him to know what he did was really strange and wrong -
while still trying to understand him. | did this because | wanted him to learn from the situation,
and grow as a human being. He goes on to not do that.

“Bradley: over a certain point of time however, grew increasingly paranoid while discussing the
situation. To my memory, he started sending me pictures of the girls instagram, slut-shaming her
based off of those pictures on her instagram to justify what had happened. (The messages of
Bradley doing the slut-shaming have since been deleted.) He then eventually started talking
about how | specifically had ruined his month, then his life and mental health by discussing the
situation with him privately and how | should’ve never mentioned it. He then started talking to
numerous other people with-in our friend group about how | was attempting to ruin his life by
getting him arrested. (Read B wtf1ic.png B wtfc.png .)

That wasn’t the case, and to this day | have only reported his friend George for being weird;
because regardless of your age there’s no reason why you should be spreading around nudes
of a girl (who is a minor) without her consent to your friends, and random people at any age.
With it allegedly having been only 2 years ago at the time, someone who does that should have


https://drive.google.com/file/d/15hemdJFaHArK8nlxOk57UHnQA-USIUWL/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ZQqU2qDeXNOPsB2LESuD9fyxVZKjcTcl/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JbkMEa9DhxnjTNZaLZegk0bfJWPu1yD-/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1U7md0LXhFLt2rHbeKNlGIl_pKqAFOdok/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1vpXLjU3WnQMHVXmAxbeN31SmBUh3gCIG/view?usp=sharing

proper discipline, then mental help, and it should be checked if that person is still doing those
disgusting actions.

Cherry hounded me for it, immediately assumed my guilt despite having known me for 5 years,
inflamed the rage that was in the group because | “admin abused”, when | tried to explain to him
the truth they refused to hear my arguments and used the excuse that they were “stressed”,
then they pressured me to give up ownership of the server directly to him; and when | did so,
and passionately apologized for everything after being gaslit by virtually everyone fearing losing
even more people; pinged everyone and told them to care for Bradley; the group removed all
my roles once | transferred ownership and made it so | couldn’t see or send any messages in
the server. Then Cherry, who was seemingly stressed; when he got what he wanted and | was
pleading for him to not abandon me, just laughed in my face and started sending me arab funny
stuff or something.

The unusual rhetoric espoused by “Bradley,” ToastedCherries’s group, and or ToastedCherries
group has changed over time.

It has morphed from

1) me ruining “Bradley’s” mental health, trying to send “Bradley” and or “Charles” to jail and
me being a psychotic fake friend, the 13 year old girl being a regular porn star who they
mistook for a 13 year old girl who went to school with them

2) “Bradley” actually somehow “pretended to jerk off’ to the nudes (of a pornstar?) as a
“joke” with several other guys, and he and “Charles” just somehow forgot to tell me that
numerous other times they told the story with the exact same details in-tact.

3) the girl from their school being 12, not 13

4) them finally acknowledging | never reported “Bradley,” or “Charles,” after several months
rather | reported the person “George” who leaked the nudes and wasn’t even in the
friend group, and that somehow being something terrible because somehow | would’ve
ruined “Bradley’s" social life by holding someone who clearly leaked nudes accountable.

5) It was a “victimless sex crime”

6) them straight up just admitting | wasn’t full of shit and claiming they were manipulated,
being shown screenshots that completely prove it, but then eventually sweeping it under
the rug; continuing to abandon me because it would be “awkward” to not do otherwise,
continuing to associate with depraved people, and pretending it never happened.

7) Just doxxing me behind my back on ToastedCherries’s public discord in the worst period
of my life (while I'm dealing with being abused at home) because it's “funny.” | have
received no explanation as to why anyone felt this was okay, and it takes me specifically
having to reach out to ToastedCherries to get it taken down.

8) “Wait.. so you're telling me he’s creepy; and insanely manipulative? | had actually
completely no idea, there were like no warning signs. It's okay old friend, I'll reconsider
the possibility of considering associating with you again in 2 years; at the earliest
January 2023.”

9) blocks with zero explanation

10) Nothing to see here. Bradley. it's been a long 5 months; welcome back!



11) What the hell does that guy want? It’s like, November 2023.
12) blocks again

In all seriousness, | can’t really make much sense of many of the arguments or defenses used
because they change so fast and contradict each other; and a lot of them honestly just sound
incredibly weird and uncomfortable. Every time | review this situation more and more there’s
always more weird and contradictory stuff that makes zero sense that | didn’t catch before and it
horrifies me more.

Spreading / showing around nudes of someone to numerous other people without their consent
isn’t funny, [!] it's super weird and is considered a pretty serious crime; and even if you’re the
same ages, it’s still super weird and uncomfortable to do. At the very least, a guidance
counselor or school official should be informed, so the student should get disciplined according
to their age and have proper mental health treatment for their behavior. That’s actually to this
day, what | did, and somehow TC'’s friend group STILL took extreme offense to that.

A student's nudes were leaked. nbor = B @

An adult who worked at the school Mon, Oct 19,2020,3:28PM  ¥r @ 6

"George", who is not "Bradley" nor "lohn" The girl who had her nudes leaked
Hello. | am speaking to you but anonymously because | really don't want to be outed by this kid for snitching on him. A student named_shnwed around the nudes of someone named in the school without their permission. To
multiple boys. You definitely need to look into this. It is most definitely a sex crime and | care about the well-being of this woman

October 19th, 2020

In retrospect; because of the extreme amount of pressure being held on me from everywhere |
was, | used the phrase “snitching on him.” That was because | was young and confused and did
not know who or what to believe, or trust. | should have been far less nice to these people and |
should not have caved into their manipulation.

As | wrote before “Bradley” was informed of this screenshot in December of 2020; admitted he
was wrong, but then made minimal effort to inform anyone that he was spreading falsehoods.
B bruh1.png

Upon this message, he blocked me before | could ask more questions.

Naturally, when you do something messed up, purposely lie about and allege serious things to
cover up something messed up that happened, and you're called out on it; it's your duty to
inform the people you made the fabricated allegations to and stop you and your friends from
spreading them and actual damage being done to someone’s reputation. He repeatedly fails to
do that.

| am going to lay out an analysis of my conversations with both Bradley and ToastedCherries for
easier readability.

An analysis of the initial confrontation with Bradley - October 2020


https://drive.google.com/file/d/1HccxR6P07Wb7wlS9FXXnDBLhSoIQGQiG/view?usp=sharing

In this conversation, “Bradley” is 15 years old. He is a high school student, and this analysis
contains the most important details of the conversation.

I must clarify that the actions he describes here aren’t my reason for this document alone - it's
also the disgusting actions that are taken afterwards. Given his age, had Bradley gotten proper
mental help and learned from his mistakes in a healthy way, | would’ve not made this document.

B wea1CC.png

The initial confrontation. | talk about the repeated stories I've been told by more than one person
about the group masturbation session. He establishes how his friend “George,” had an image of
the girls nudes and the three of them jacked off to it one at a time.

B wea2CC.png

He establishes several key details, such as his age, grade level, and the people involved in the
story.

B wea3CC.png

B weadCC.png

B wea5CC.png
| talk about the basics of consent. With the basics of consent being established; he writes “if
that’s the case then like 50 kids at our schools are sex criminals”

B wea6CC.png
He talks about how he just now deleted his nudes from old girlfriend.

He establishes motives, that he told the story repeatedly because it was funny to him. He tells
me to talk to “Charles” about the situation, and | do shortly afterwards.

He makes the CLEAR distinction that he knows well I’'m far more mad at “George” for
leaking nudes.

B wea7CC.png
He talks about how he just DMed ToastedCherries and one of his friends, and only told them.

He talks about how he’s not going to tell anyone else.

B wea8CC.png
| tell him the results of my conversation with “Charles.”

(potentially censor?)


https://drive.google.com/file/d/1jED0BbFR0HH3Di4ZXNzw5KVLeAmueQkj/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1PEaIIqWpR9dsHxFFAhiQBidwem0t5l42/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ypAbamtnFUk7795B41OkHh4sbdB-kQpr/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1NSaP0bN3pg1_VdD1Cft7iTgvdFCMaYYp/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1-N-JbXjVl79o1gAmL8Icw8TOlDBIqaiB/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1WeX0EejNYsM027GHLBNbt15FHaGcSjL9/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JTRqoR4vnUt57Ydy1VN7MEYhpEwiics8/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/14t4Xn0fN_a6fjyc5oIMt846k592DuaRf/view?usp=sharing

B wea9CC.png

B wea10CC.png
He talks about how “George” leaked nudes to SEVERAL other people. He doesn’t say he
might’ve, he just says flat-out he did.

This is important, because “Bradley” and members of the group are dishonest about this.

B wea11CC.png
When | ask him more questions, he talks about how the nudes may have been leaked to
“George.”

B nameof.png
He can give me the girl’s exact name. It is claimed repeatedly afterwards that there was
“no evidence” or “information” that would warrant a school official being told.

B wea12CC.png

Two days later, the server that ToastedCherries which pressured me into giving up
ownership of has deleted channels containing evidence, conversations, and has banned
me. This is confirmed by “Bradley.”

He now claims within a short period of time of consistently telling the story that he didn’t actually
masturbate to the nudes, but he merely “faked” it. The narrative is also now that it was an adult
porn star, who seemingly looked 13/12.

Had this been actually true, (which it VERY obviously isn’t) the appropriate thing would be for
Bradley to just clear up that misunderstanding peacefully, apologize to everyone, not then
attempt to isolate me, not manipulate people, not lie even more or act like an even bigger
asshole in the future to comically large extents.

Initial confrontation with ToastedCherries - October 2020

In this conversation, ToastedCherries is 13 years old. While | would’ve forgiven him had he
learned from this given his age at the time, | have sadly seen no clear evidence of that and a
continued pattern of manipulation, complicity, and evasion of responsibility in the time
afterwards. This analysis will remain for context.

Multiple screenshots recovered from the server. | do not have access to it as | was
banned.

B serveri.png

The claim that | called “George” a “child molestor” is categorically false. A few second CTRL + F
search found that completely no evidence of this claim in anyone’s DMs.

B server2.png


https://drive.google.com/file/d/150pIYcxYaVb8N8eFlxPoUgLEHIqB9Zbc/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/13ttvN0GgWGAHEmELBpfrAMkKXoyKu1l-/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Rt2GMGalDNaHGZ7u-HzWevYIUYQkR_pu/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1-YUWn8d9Cm_GOdYvC_hfe_WBzJyWRCJ0/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/12mtDWChnBZz3E5-aMkEJxi7eudlDbxoA/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1rT8W5S4Z7UTiT1YcRTErMOZJcwG134gV/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ZQqU2qDeXNOPsB2LESuD9fyxVZKjcTcl/view?usp=sharing

The exact facility being named. B ymca facility.png It is repeatedly falsely claimed that | had
“no evidence” or “no information,” thus | no justification to alert “George’s” school of his activity.

B server3.png
It being claimed that the girl “already knew her nudes” were leaked, which very clearly shows
that her nudes were leaked.

B serverd.png
ToastedCherries inflames the situation, making bold assumptions, because he believes | am an
“admin abuser” and he wants ownership of the server.

B Ot19c.png

After | see that ToastedCherries is clearly inflaming the situation, not considering actual
evidence or verifying falsehoods and potentially using the situation to gain ownership of my
server in an aggressive manner, | confront him directly. As someone who’s been at this point
friends with him for 5 years, I’'m disappointed with him for immediately taking an extremely
strong stance, not bothering to ask my side, and his now uncomfortably weird morals. .

B Ot19c2.png

I ask him how | admin abused on my discord server, because admin abuse is a gigantic
allegation. He quite literally says that the admin abuse was: mostly permission related
roles. He's unable to update other people’s role colors or what roles look like. Then he
writes “not only that,” as if what he just said was a hard-hitting strong argument for his behavior;
he’s more active.

He did not have a discussion to talk about his serious problems with my alleged “admin abuse.”
As none of his apparent problems have been talked about, | couldn’t figure out how this made
me the devil, an insane admin abuser, because this problem which TC found huge over role
permissions and role colors was never vocalized to me.

Respectfully, no matter how you look at it, this is still an incredibly stupid and manipulative
reason to betray a friend of 5 years.

| question why he’s listening to “Bradley” and “Charles’s” obviously made up allegations without
question, when he met both last year, without bothering to even ask me about it. Based on his
response to that, he shows that he didn’'t even bother to get basic facts straight in the situation
before coming to an extreme judgment.

| still decide to give him ownership after his manipulative outburst. This is because he’s
pressured me, | can’t afford to lose childhood friends over useless things, and his rhetoric and
tone has noticeably completely changed. This is where | expect him to become calm,
level-headed and reasonable about the situation. That doesn’t happen.


https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JbkMEa9DhxnjTNZaLZegk0bfJWPu1yD-/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1GElfdR_DuJmAZqineRMCQLNckwZ9qQ3B/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1wczPevnE5WQuYI_x1MnUmRh0JBUslPT-/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1YKi0GyNfh_OWVNXMvCARjfdyXdRSfMcn/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1M8ymQSXujGuPDwJLqdClY8skeLnwc3Md/view?usp=sharing

B Ot19c3.png

B Ot19c4a.png
He asked for the actual facts, so | give a detailed, non-neurotic or accusatory summary of the
situation, being still fair to all parties; and verify and check every single detail.

B Ot19cb5a.png

Cherry, now being confronted with the legitimate facts of the situation; uses the excuse that he’s
stressed to evade any sort of discussion or responsibility. | say excuse, because of this
screenshot. B Ot19c6a.png B Ot20c7.png

TC stops responding. Evidence is then deleted that day, and then I’'m banned.
B wea12CC.png

By this period in time, “Bradley” is now threatening, suicide baiting, guilt tripping, and purposely
manipulating to hide his actions. He goes completely mask off the next day. B threat1.jpg

B Ot19c6a.png

ToastedCherries, who was seemingly stressed out of his mind before; now that I've given him
and his friends exactly what they want and I've been on another plane of generous towards all
of them, makes fun of me, memes a legitimate situation and treats me like a joke. | can’t even
describe how painfully unfunny this is.

Wow man, a Ukrainian cat. So hilarious dude.

B Ot20c7.png

Hey everyone, look at my screenshare! This is totally le epic sauce! | totally owned this
childhood friend of mine who | knew for 5 years! He likes consent guys and has moral principles
and questions things! | OWNED HIM, it's a BLACK cube guys, you guys hear that.. BLACK!
BROWN people that look like that guy walk around it to pray and they speak a funny language
that looks different than ours! Wait no, no, | got a good one! CHINESE ASIAN PEOPLE! Haha
guys that was so funny, the joke is that | can’t understand what they’re saying and | used google
translate. | should send the soviet national anthem because that would be EVEN funnier! He
had no evidence guys, | swear!

I've tried my best to approach this screenshot with civility, but man this is still low. Using band
kid humor after I've fulfilled their manipulative requests for doing legitimately nothing wrong is
just insane. He doesn’t bother to look in my shoes, he’s just validated by an echochamber of
manipulative people who won’t challenge anything or bother to look into evidence that actually
makes sense.

B F1.png


https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ofWhDwS61XMtcV-TeVYCOhznTcFvR1sD/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1dhlGsUeAs-zYtm9skT_3FbE-aH-ORBSq/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1z3Vxv7Iglcrb3NybRXCtqVkuQwChL5jj/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JUYJkhC_2Mm8VbsgSB81OhpGmEUFFjib/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/18axmyQpoaogPiz2rFUpUhsayNRNbyUiM/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/12mtDWChnBZz3E5-aMkEJxi7eudlDbxoA/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1AN1BHvTqjQYiHnimFfxHE59rZYFaQxsj/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JUYJkhC_2Mm8VbsgSB81OhpGmEUFFjib/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/18axmyQpoaogPiz2rFUpUhsayNRNbyUiM/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Emn3amvt0F1cOB6R6qSYm7p4YgqLYu_C/view?usp=sharing

You can see how | still fall for some of the gaslighting, how | can barely comprehend what'’s
happening or how I'd be betrayed so hard.

While Cherry admits 6 months later that the entire framework of his justification for acting this
way was based on complete lies and manipulation after hard-hitting evidence is shown directly
to his face, he does not grow a backbone; chalking it up to it being “awkward.”

Even years later, | have never received a genuine, non-victim blamey apology from anyone here
over this insanity, or any proof of actual moral growth, thus this document will be made.

Once all is said and done, “Bradley” goes on a manipulation rampage.
During this period, he talks to me as a “friend” in private seemingly without
his friend group’s knowledge, then potentially does the exact same thing

vice versa. (2020 - 2023)

This will be terrifying to describe because I’'m doing this mostly by myself. | thought of
documenting every single intricacy of every time he contacted me, but | feel that would take far
too long and would bring back too many disturbing memories. | will only be showing highlights.

I have to look through several different accounts, servers, and platforms to paint a detailed
picture of this. Basically, once he gets my closest friend group to cut me off; and he’s gotten
them to think I'm manipulative and crazy, that | have no redeeming traits; | vent to an unrelated
friend group and my real life friends, about how traumatic and horrifying the situation felt for me;
on-top of everything that | went through at home. Understandably, they make the choice to cut
him off instantly. “Bradley,” doing an emotionally abusive tactic known as “isolation” attempts to
win these friends over to his side; getting them to cut me off so they can join him.

He contacts various members of an unrelated friend group of mine through other platforms,
because they blocked him on Discord. (not shown to protect privacy, and please do not harass,
identify or contact these people in any capacity.) That group gets incredibly uncomfortable
almost immediately. For some reason, he views an unrelated friend group not wanting to talk to
him as my fault and hounds me for it. He contacts my real life friends, who pretty awkwardly
listen to him and report what he says back to me. He makes several attempts to contact me,
through various different platforms.



Your friends blocking isnt gonna do anything fucking
dumabss

Your friends barely know who he fucking is anyway

If im gonna be arrested for a federal crime im getting you involved

Look, im sorry for all the insults i just said but actually
gets called into the office hes gonna get us fucking involved

And its gonna be your fault

Literally i said to you i didnt jack off to the nudes

Its not a crime

What did is a crimee

And you telling everyone about Is just petite

Your friends are gonna block a random person wheo they
dont even know why

Im so mad at you

You didnt think about what you did and now its gonna ruin my fucking

life "
*my location

Because some fucking dumbass from s about a
random fucking girl he never met

0P0OO - ®" 00 ®

Screenshot recovered from iPad, October 20th 2020. This is by the period where I'm cut off by
basically everyone, and isolated. He had to text me here because by a certain point | blocked
him because of the consistent amount of pressure, insults, baseless allegations, stress, guilt
tripping, suicide baiting / manipulation, and harassment he put on me.

B threatic.jpg

- He most notably talks about how “George” (pictured in brown) clearly committed a crime.
Zero sympathy for the girl, or me. He questions why a “fucking dumbass” like me cares
about a “random fucking girl he never met.” He does not care about the damage his
actions have caused to other people, he cares about his own self-interest.

- In a threatening way, Bradley calls me a dumbass for reporting his friend for committing
a crime and talks about how if | get him arrested for a federal crime he’s getting me
involved. | live in a completely different town, state than him, and there is no legal basis
or legal argument for getting me involved for simply alerting the police of extremely
concerning information with a great amount of detail that was told to me consistently.

- This is also an insane threat, considering I'd be dealing with this while dealing with an
actual situation. B wtf2.png


https://drive.google.com/file/d/1lyv2ej86GVL-pIwXwSRx3UpqRd9Lbwo6/view?usp=sharing
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- He accuses me of attempting to ruin his life. It's the entire backbone of his argument and
the only thing he uses to continually justify his insane behavior. Let’s get this straight.
This is 100% a manipulation attempt, and he shows that later. & wtf1c.png

B wifc.png Trivalizing suicide and manipulating everyone while your friend has to cover
up his legitimate emotions over his actual situation B wtf2.png for your own comfort or
for something to be covered up is categorically evil.

- He “apologizes” for insulting me, then tries to manipulate me with no clear remorse for
something he caused, then repeats the exact same insult again. This just summarizes
his entire behavior throughout the entire situation. He consistently proves he has no
remorse, or ability to properly grow from his mistakes, and he uses people’s sympathy to
manipulate them.

- Apparently if various unrelated friend groups that don’t even know him cut him off for
being insane, it's now my problem to sort out? If he were not a manipulative or
hypocritical piece of shit, he would probably not previously have gotten his friend group
to abandon me over something completely false in the worst period of my life because |
wasn’t ok with a group masturbation session. One friend group is more than enough.

- The already extremely flimsy argument that it was “so long ago,” which is
repeated continuously by members of the group now goes completely out the
window, because he is now clearly a 15 year old high schooler without basic
moral standards or remorse. This isn’t a normal thing to do when you’re 15 years
old, at all; and he never actually makes a full apology.

- | don’t even know how this makes sense, but it's claimed later that | “refused to consider
both sides.”

- TC was shown a relevant portion of this screenshot and others which unequivocally
proved “Bradley’s” extreme levels of manipulation and his complete dishonesty about
what happened. B Ap9cc.png Despite ToastedCherries apparently realizing this, he
continues to associate with him, and records videos with him.

By a certain point however, with everything being piled on me; with how little sense the situation
or my entire group of friends abandoning me made, | could hardly process what was going on at
all. Numerous times, “Bradley” would re-establish contact with me, manipulate me; and
sometimes | would accept it. From there, he would be “friends” with me without telling his
friends; and | would ask him numerous times to let them hear my side because it didn’t make
sense for them to continually believe what later devolved to a bizarre fanfiction with how
ridiculous it eventually got; which he would decline. He attempted to hide that | talked to him
numerous times, at one point blocking me because his friends noticed that he had me friended.
B manipulation1.png

Throughout these periods; when | asked too many questions or caught him when his story
obviously would not line up, he would say things along the lines of “you need to move on, we’ve
already forgotten about you;” or “I already have so many other friend groups than this, | don’t
care if | lose you or anyone” or slip up and accidentally tell the truth.
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Also in these periods; he would also insult members of ToastedCherries’s friend group to me;
even though he had them cut me off for being “manipulative,” or whatever reason it currently is.
At certain points, he would claim to me that they were “fake friends” to him too, and they had cut
him off too. He does the same thing vice versa with me to ToastedCherries’s group; at one point
trying to frame me for hacking his discord account as a “prank” which | was severely
uncomfortable with, and started recording once | realized his intentions.

To my memory, the last two periods where | was friendly with him were in July of 2021 and
January of 2023. | will document them for context.

(Read this first)

July 2021

I notice ToastedCherries, several of his friends, and “Charles” cut me off without any sort of
warning or explanation. | thought everything was going good, and that | had finally proven my
innocence from whatever was being made up. It pretty much just feels like a major punch in the
gut which made me question a lot and gave me more questions than answers.

| contacted “Bradley,” inquiring about “Charles’s” mental state, and he informed me that
“Charles” is not doing well. He told me that he was trying to help him. “Bradley” states he was
cut off by ToastedCherries too. “Bradley” also informs me that he’s also suicidal and depressed,
and he has even been self-harming. He tells me we’ve both been manipulated by Cherry and
his group, | was right, and talks about how they’re fake friends to both of us.

Because of suicidal tendencies that he claims, and how bizarre it was that TC blocked me
without explanation, | feel extremely bad for him and for some reason believe him, so in-order to
cheer him up; | decide to play games with him, basically promising to become friends with him
again. Over a call, “Bradley” confesses to me that he deep down felt really sorry for what he did,
that he wasn’t honest about how bad he felt over his actions, and that | was reasonable and was
just reacting the way | did because | lost all of my friends due to what he did. It seems like a rare
moment of clarity, and | believe in forgiveness.

However, at certain points | get really disturbing flashbacks of a past instance of him pressuring
me into sexual acts. Over time, they start really bothering me subconsciously.

It ends with him randomly manipulating me, and projecting abuse he had done to me in the past
onto me by taking legitimate memes and jokes completely out of context, blowing them out of
proportion and chalking them up to again, serious allegations.

It's too much to handle at once and it's extremely unexpected, so | fall for his manipulation in the
moment and beg for him to not to abandon me again. He then cuts me off.

Only 1-2 months later, it appears “Bradley” has rejoined ToastedCherries’s publicly linked
discord server; and then he promptly encourages members to dox me, which they do.



I’'m not going to show much of this at all (with the exception of the doxxing that happens later),
as to set up the context it would involve me having large swaths of information about “Bradley’s”
claimed mental care | don’t think is chivalrous to share. If for some reason this instance does
come up, | have everything on record and will share screenshots from it if | need to.

(Read this first)

January 2023
This is going off of memory.

At some point around this time | try friending ToastedCherries; and I'm instantly blocked by him.
At this period of time, | can’t process why he would do that; so | mistake it for him not
recognizing me, or maybe me friending the wrong account, and don’t want to believe he would
cover for Bradley. A traumatic event at my household happens around the same time. This
household event is similar to what happened in 2020 and it destroys my faith in humanity, and
makes me fearful, confused, and traumatized once again.

| inform Bradley about how this situation destroyed me and tore me apart mentally, how it
created massive trust issues for me to lose nearly all of my closest childhood friends, on-top of
my already untrustworthy family in such a short period of time, and how it forced me to grow up
early. | inform him about how to this day | haven'’t recovered, and | feel completely invisible. He
blocks me instantly. Then a week or so later, he unblocks me, pretends to care and feel bad and
we get into contact and he promises that it'll be different this time. He says we’re going to play
games, he acts like a friend. He briefly mentions that he’s still friends with “the old group.” Then,
one day without warning he blocks me.

I do not have this conversation on record. | feel it's important to reference and document this
instance in case “Bradley” tries to use it to claim it forgives his actions.

After a lot of thinking, | decide to re-evaluate the situation. That leads me to find out more
information.

Friend Group Contact - January 27th 2021
ToastedCherries leaves a comment on someone | know at time’s video. | reply to the comment,
telling him not to contact him; and explaining in detail why.

“Bradley” then talks to a separate friend of mine who | knew in real life, who informs me of
Bradley’s message for me to “stop harassing his friends.”

ToastedCherries then reaches out to the video maker through Twitter. That person tells him he
wishes not to contact him or associate with him.



When he brushes off TC, someone else from the group who I'll call “Daniel” talks to them. The
person responds with input from me.

Now, this string of messages from “Daniel” are pretty strange and weird; and give some of the
most clear insight into how TC’s group internally treated the situation behind closed doors. To
my knowledge; they were under the impression that | would not see this message, so they just
blatantly misrepresented everything thinking they would not get caught. I’'m going to admit
re-reading it infuriated me, so | will warn you that | deconstruct every argument using some
pretty strong language.



hey man how's it going?

i was wondering what |l has
told you about everyone in the
friend group

cause it sounds to me like he
has convinced you that we're all
terrible people

This is already weird off the bat.
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terrible people

he told me that you kicked him
out of your friend group
because after months of

" implying that his friend
illegally distributed nudes, he
reported that friend. and you
guys attempted to lecture him
on how he was an asshole for
reporting and that was your
justification for kicking him out.
then 1 day after|Jjill reported
you changed the story to say it
was a pornstar and tried to
make him appear like an asshole
when he literally couldn't have
known that. you abandoned
your good friend for a reason
that's 100% messed up in one
of the worst periods of his life.
thats enough to convince me to
cut contact off with all of you.

My friend responds.
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- says it was a nude of a
pornstar. he asked the guy who
showed it to him later on. if that
is true or not is the backbone of
this whole situation,

even if it was the actual girl, it
still wouldn't be considered
distribution, since it was shown
to 4 people on someona's
phone ta in real life as a joke.
brendan says he remembers the
guy deleting the picture too. and
it wouldn't hurt the girl either.

-FIE‘."ET consulted -

about this either. he reported
someone to their school for
something they are suspected
of doing as a 12yo, going of no
infarmation. this could have
been resolved immediately
through a simple conversation. i
understand why Jjwould feel
the need to do this, because of
where he was at in life, but that
doesn't excuse his actions,

's friend's integrity can
be questioned, but reporting
him to his school without any

rancrata avidanca ic nnt

There is so much wrong in this picture. | can so quickly just take down virtually every point on
here.

- What type of porn star could be mistaken for a 13/12 year old girl; one that goes to
your school? Also, why did it suddenly shift from being a 13/12 year old girl - to a porn
star who looks 13/12 in such a short period of time?

- If you’re watching porn with a girl who could be mistaken for a 13/12 year old,
what.. porn are you watching?

- The ages also have pretty obviously changed.



- Yeah, it kind of is distribution; at least according to United States Federal Law.
Also, showing nudes around without consent and then obviously touching
yourself to it together is a pretty weird joke and | don’t like that sense of humor.

- What makes you think that it was only 4 people, or that you can trust him to tell
the truth? “Bradley” says at the very beginning that “50 kids at his school are sex
criminals” and that “George” showed the nudes to several other people.

- If this was solely referring to the YMCA incident, who is this fourth person that
just appeared in the story? Bradley initially writes that it was only him, “George”
and “Charles” there.

- | consulted “Bradley,” and everyone involved and confirmed every in-and out. Also, so
did they to TC’s group, based on the internal screenshots | received. B server2.png

B ymca facility.png There was not “no information” or "no evidence” and it was
concerning enough to warrant someone being told. | also very clearly coddle him in the
initial conversation and try to tell him it's going to be okay and not to blow it massively
out of proportion. He yells at me in my face, abuses my trust, tells me my actions and not
his own are the root of his problems, and manipulates me and everyone around him. As
a general rule, if someone has to consistently rely on bad faith arguments; they are not
telling the truth.

- “lunderstand why [me] would feel the need to do this, because of where he was at in
life” | was sexually assaulted in real life B wtf2.png and had to deal with losing my
entire friend group insulting me, ostracizing me, abandoning me over nothing in that
same period of time. This was all while “Bradley” was very very obviously lying out of his
teeth, attempting to destroy me; because he “coped in weird ways” B wtf1c.png and
listened to emo music(??). B witfc.ong This reads like an extremely cheap and
dishonest attempt at sympathy that’s different from the usual rhetoric, to appear
presentable.

- Alongside this; while reviewing this situation, | talked to someone who had left the friend
group too. They confirmed that “Bradley” told them the same story they told me, with the
exact same details intact. Indeed, he did not happen to masturbate to a porn star who
seemingly looked 13/12 as a “joke.”

As insane as that all sounds, that isn’t even the worst. There’s more.


https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ZQqU2qDeXNOPsB2LESuD9fyxVZKjcTcl/view?usp=sharing
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https://drive.google.com/file/d/1vpXLjU3WnQMHVXmAxbeN31SmBUh3gCIG/view?usp=sharing
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WhEere ne was at In lire, Dut that
doesn’t excuse his actions,
I s friend's integrity can
beg oned, but reporting
him to his schoaol without any
concrete evidence is not
questioning his integrity. it's
trying to ruin someone’s life
based on

basically nothing

sarry i accidentally sent that
prematurely

the way you say it changes the
whole situation. on one hand:
someone reports a sex criminal
to their school, because they
distributed child porn. on the
ather hand: someone tries to
ruin someone else's reputation
and education because they
heard someone committed a
victimless sexcrime anly
involving people of the same
age and nothing else.

What the actual hell is a “victimless sex crime?” Where did you learn that term,
and what’s the definition of a “victimless sex crime.” What in your life drew you to
use that term? Also, what’s the definition of consent?

I’'m sorry that.. changes the whole situation? So your whole position has been
radically changed, into this? That begs a serious question as to what your stance
was before.

They act as if simply informing their principal that someone who very obviously did leak
that stuff would cause the police to publicly shame them with a dunce cap on their head
and call some gigantic assembly telling everyone that they had a group masturbation
session with several other guys. In a most likely and honest outcome, they’d be given a
stern warning by law enforcement; and properly receive mental health treatment. If the



girl was even informed; they would've been given the legitimate choice to choose
whether or not to associate with that person and would’ve received resources or advice
to deal with the situation from a counselor.

- By the way, this guy that they’re at this point vehemently defending who very obviously
leaked nudes; to my knowledge wasn't even in ToastedCherries’s friend group when |
was there. That makes the situation even more disturbing.

- There seems to be a complete lack of sympathy for the alleged girl in these
messages. | don’t understand why they’re so adamant at this point on shielding
even an INVESTIGATION.

- With all this in mind, how does any of this justify cutting someone you’ve had as a friend
since 2015 off in the literal complete worst and traumatic time of his life?

WA PP Pl T BT TR Y LT

the same age and nothing else.

im probably not going to win you over, but
just remember this: i isn't full of shit, he
just refuses to actually consider the other half
of the story.

That last message just infuriates me. What an insane double standard.

Prior to this, not a single person here told me | wasn’t “full of shit.” Not a single person here
decided to peacefully hear the situation out. | was instead berated, insulted and called a
dumbass, B threat1.jpg a bitch, a lunatic and insane. B server1.png B server2.png
Unverified falsehoods with no evidence were continually spread about me, all because | was
uncomfortable with the group masturbation session to leaked nudes in a forest. No one really
reached out and wanted to talk to me, despite the fact that | had known so many of them for
years.

I’'m sure too “Bradley” considered every intricacy of my situation, was a warm and caring person
B threat1c.jpg to me who merely committed “victimless sex crimes” and took full responsibility
for those and grew from them, and didn’t outright demonize me or cut me off, then attempt
successfully to get the majority of my friends who | knew for 5+ years to cut me off in the worst
period of my life, and then also harass and berate the remaining friends who belonged to
various unrelated friend groups for cutting him off on Discord through accounts on different
platforms that they forgot to unfriend him on because tearing one friend group from me just
simply wasn’t enough for a warm and caring person like “Bradley.” He totally didn’t try to isolate
me in the worst period of my life. He totally didn’t contribute to large amounts of suicidal
thoughts for me, | totally couldn’t have just died as a result, which | had to cover up and hide to
avoid being called a “cry baby,” “crazy” or being called someone who had everyone “rent free” in
their mind, “Bradley” totally didn’t just falsely accuse me of hacking his discord account as “joke”
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which freaked everyone out, and there totally isn’t clear video evidence of that. | totally don’t just
learn later that he for some unusual reason randomly told a group full of random people that |
masturbated to an female celebrity who, who he himself was sexually attracted to.

He totally looked at both sides, and was chivalrous throughout this entire thing. | absolutely
totally didn’t consistently give him the benefit of the doubt when he couldn’t even grasp basic
moral standards.

They respond again, calling him out for his strange rhetoric.

iI'm sorry but it would be considered distnbution and
it doesn't matter if it was a joke. imagine if you took a
picture of your genitals, and sent it to someone and
then that someone showed it around to people in
your school without your knowledge. | don’t think
you'd feel too good, would you? it is not a ‘victimless
sex cnime’ there’s no such thing as a ‘victimless™ sex
crime. if it did happen, there was a clear victim and it
was the girl because she didn't know her nudes were
being showed around. it doesn’t change anything if
it'’s a joke. it being people of the same age doesn’t
change anything either, what matters is the consent
portion. it doesn’t matter if it was a joke’ it normally
would harm a girl if her nudes were spread without
her consent.

plus the most he'd get is a slap on the wnist whilst it
not being public, it happened when he was 13 and the
police have bigger thangs to prosecute. that's just how
the justice system works in the US. plus the school
would be able to find evidence, and if they didn’t find
anything he'd have Iiterally nothing happen to him.
only if actual evidence was found of a cnime, then he
would have a slap on the wrist but definitely his
reputation wouldnt be destroyed. you guys blew this
way out of proportion

i just don't see why this was a good reason to shut
out your fnend and demonize him. you should
probably apologize to him and just resume talking
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stance before was ignorant. i

don't really feel like talking ta
causa it would

friend group B shit b
we're Irying

up about it now. deep down he
i d guy, but he isn't well
right now and he's kinda done
with everything. h

-ha'.ln_ resolved ever

*make an excusa

- ‘“Daniel” responds. He admits that the friend group is “shit,” that his position was
completely “ignorant"and baseless, but instead of trying to fix this incredible
wrong, and at the very least apologize directly to me he says it’ll be “awkward.”
That’s a common and recurring theme here, specific people who do abusive
things in this circle when they realize they’ve been caught in a lie never try to take
responsibility and subsequently correct their wrongs, just because it looks ugly,
awkward or not PR friendly.

- Mind | remind you of something, | knew a great deal of these guys for over 5+ years.
And also, | INTRODUCED “Bradley” to the friend group and when this situation
happened, they had known him for at that point 1 singular year. “Bradley” very clearly is
never removed or even disciplined for just lying out of his teeth, getting everyone to
isolate and abandon me in the already most traumatic period of my life B wtf2.png

and very clearly manipulating everyone. B wtf1c.ong B wtfc.png | fail to understand
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this logic or how it makes sense; and respectfully, it sounds more like the members of
the group care more about their own personal comfort; at the extreme expense of others.

- “He says he and [] have resolved everything” Judging by the fact that this you needed
to be taught the basic building blocks of consent, and this conversation needed to
happen; no, it didn’t. Then, Daniel talks about how Bradley wants everyone to shut
up about the situation. Very interestingly, evading answering questions, responsibility,
or getting people to shut up is also an extremely continual pattern whenever Bradley is
about to be caught in a lie or for doing something extremely messed up.

- From start to finish, the rhetoric in this conversation is disgusting. It also raises serious
implications of what happens behind the scenes that | do not know of;, if this is
considered one of the most presentable and civil conversations. From what I've
witnessed from this group, various people put on different faces for different people in
this situation to appear more presentable.

- Alongside this, if you are mentally ill; that's not an excuse for abusive/manipulative
actions. A lot of abusive people may have some sort of mental illness, but that does not
mean their feelings should be prioritized over a victim’s or the person they brutally hurt;
who likely will face mental health problems as a result of trauma. In my specific case,
dealing with all of this while being actively abused at home, because someone wanted to
shield an investigation was far more horrific.

- If you do abusive or manipulative actions while claiming to be mentally ill; you should
take full responsibility, apologize and then promptly grow as a person and not evade the
consequences of your own actions by continuing to lie and manipulate. You should
probably also seek professional help.

- Again, Bradley admitted to blowing the situation out of proportion for some pretty wild
reasons - which completely invalidates this already weak argument. B wif1c.png

B wifc.png

- This person who claims I'm “not full of shit,” and later states that his entire stance
was “ignorant” later goes on to post a dox of me on ToastedCherries’s public
discord server. A TikTok video from my personal account which was somehow
found and then promptly downloaded, showing my face, room and full name,
complete with threats of violence. Bradley laughs at it and cheers him on. It is up
for several months, until | have to actually reach out to ToastedCherries to get it
taken down. To this day, | have received no apology or explanation. These are the
same people who told me to “move on” because they apparently have. “Move on”
doesn’t mean peaceful understanding or actual growth; it just means move over,
let us do what we want, and shut up.

ToastedCherries contacts another one of my friends, a childhood friend
with no association to his group. The message is riddled with completely
false information, and purposely omits crucial detail. - April 6th 2021

B to1ru.png
| received this screenshot on April 6th 2021.
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TC may not publicly/presently have these exact specific views shown in the screenshot above.
He appeared to repudiate some of them claiming he was entirely misled and manipulated by
“Bradley.” However, “Bradley” is somehow continuously reinvited; even in the wake of more
disturbing things that come out later. | have no concrete explanation as to why, so thus this
screenshot will remain for context.

- Only “George” was reported, “Bradley” nor “Charles” were ever reported. Members of
ToastedCherries’s group who cut me off are already well aware of that by this period in
time.

- “Bradley’s” age again changed from 13 to 12. The time frame also changes from 2 years
ago to 3 years ago.

- “Bradley” previously explained in December to me that it actually didn’t ruin his life or
even come close to that; and he made that up. ToastedCherries also is shown this
screenshot later; but still continually reinvites him.

- On top of this, there is no mention of another key detail about myself; this actually pretty
much ruined my mental health and there is no consideration of that. Losing nearly all of
your friends over completely false pretenses while you're actively being abused at home
is way more horrifying than your friend who leaked nudes without consent 2 years ago to
numerous other people being reported to their school. | disgusted me reading that line
for the first time, and it still disgusts me reading it now with everything | know now.

- Again, there’s really not such a thing as a “porn star” who looks 13 or 12; and if
this “porn star” also looks like your crush, and if you claim this an extremely short
period after it starts looking weird for you, that makes it even more unlikely and
just not believable.

- The source of information saying it's a porn star comes from “George,” which “Bradley”
repeats back. Why would George have a reason to not lie?

- There is a complete absence of an extremely key detail. | didn’t merely “remember the
situation after 3 years,” | remembered it because he kept telling me in detail about his
group masturbation session and it made me uncomfortable, then | verifiably asked him
several ins and outs of the situation; and his other friend who was present confirmed the
details.

- No mention of the fact that they were pretty obviously in a group masturbation session to
the nude photographs with two other guys, which is a very key detail. Without this key
detail being mentioned, it downplays what actually happened.

- If you're wondering about that last line, talking about “weird shit” that he’s unable to
name here that | allegedly did around “spring-summer 2020” that made them “very
uncomfortable;” | later asked him about it over VC - the only thing he could name was
that he heard from a friend in his friend group who he could barely remember the name
of, which he confused for two vastly different people: that | interrupted people in voice
chat previously. My response was just a confused and disappointed: “Oh.. you should’ve
told me that, and we would’ve had a normal conversation about that and | would’ve
corrected it.” He goes on to say the literal exact same thing about “Bradley” in late 2021
and continually associates with him. I've re-read most of my DMs with TC, and with just



about everyone (with the exception of Bradley) in his friend group before the situation
started they appear normal. For someone who apparently had an extremely large,
painstaking problem with me, to the point where | made them super gravely
uncomfortable, he sure did want to record an Among Us video with me as the second to
last short conversation we had before the conflict erupted. B amogus.png | would say
this was just completely made up on the spot as he already very clearly over
exaggerates in this message, but to be fair | don’t know what other useless grudges
were held that were never talked about.

- Finally, if you’re going to contact one of my childhood friends with serious
allegations, you need to do actual research before you send a message, tell the
actual whole truth and don’t purposely omit extremely important details which
coincidentally show you and your friends being in the wrong.

At first, | wanted to completely ignore this message that my friend showed me; because it was
incredibly stressful to still be dealing with.

TC very well could’ve simply looked at old messages and easily found that a pretty large chunk
of what was said was completely untrue. Then, | realize that if he’s attempting to talk to
unrelated friend groups about things that are generally completely false without regard for basic
moral standards; | should reach out to him because it could cause damage to my reputation and
it is in general extremely uncomfortable to continually deal with.

The same day, | have someone reach out to Cherry to inform him that he’s
spreading misinformation. | write up a doc and include receipts.
ToastedCherries initially is evasive and rude. - April 6th 2021

B tol1c.png
The initial Twitter message, sent on April 6th 2021;

B tol2c.png

If my entire friend group who I've known for years cuts me off in the worst period of my life over
completely false information, without bothering to actually consider my side or the serious effect
it had on me, and there’s multiple attempts to share that to unrelated friends with even more
blatantly false information; | am naturally going to reach out and stop you as soon as possible.

ToastedCherries also writes “| honestly want to move on from this,” despite the fact that on the
EXACT same day | received that screenshot of him trying to spread those falsehoods to a
childhood friend. Move on doesn’t mean move on, it means move over and shut up.

B tol3c.png

He admits that what he shared were falsehoods that were spread around. The ending of this
message kind of peeves me off, if you take away the obvious PR control; it reads like: “despite
the fact that | knew you since 2014 at the earliest, and we abandoned you while you were being
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sexually assaulted at home, over obviously completely false information given to us by someone
we knew for a year because you were uncomfortable with a group masturbation session to
leaked nudes of a minor; and we didn’t bother to verify anything; continually shit on you, you
should move on from something we are actively continuing because we do not care about you.”

I don’t know how in this instance he doesn’t realize it, but even after the entire basis of his
argument is revealed to be based on complete falsehoods; he then somehow believes and
shares yet another wild allegation without bothering to verify it before sharing it; which just
infuriates me because | can instantly debunk that too.

B tol4c.png
B tol5c.png

| then directly address him, and noticeably his tone immediately switches when he’s face to face
with me. Past me forgives him because it isn’t the same rhetoric or tone as before and | believe
| can reason with him.

Again, the entire basis of TC’s argument for abandoning me at this point is that | didn’t verify,
consider both sides, or find evidence for serious life-ruining allegations. Then he’s found to be
doing that himself. It's an absolute double standard.

B tol6c.png
| can’t recover the rest of this Twitter screenshot. Here’s a transcript of what | said, that | was
able to recover:

(from [me]) dude what the fuck? he lied and literally told me that he told you guys that his
relative did it and i made it EXTRA clear that i wasnt comfortable with him pretending like i
actually did it. you should realize that what he was literally doing was attempting to fucking
defame me and ruin my reputation. he's already made up a fuckton of other lies about me, why
the fuck are you still trusting him? what makes you think he won't try to do the same to you?

and here's the video evidence i recorded of him because i knew that he was going to try to
falsely frame me of some shit in order to make himself look good

(from [me]) i'd like to talk to you directly as now i realize that i was accused of something
serious, please DM me on twitter @[me] you think this is some kind of harmless prank but
legitimately it could've ruined my fucking life the same way [bradley] was pretending i was trying
to ruin his.

Here’s a transcript of the video attached. | decided to use a transcript because it contains audio
of my actual voice, and as | said; | want to maintain my anonymity.
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CONTEXT:

During one of Bradley’s instances of contact with me without informing his friends, he has a
strange idea to mess with his friend group as a prank, and pretend he’s gotten hacked. It
sounds like an unusual idea, and | awkwardly just hear him talk about doing it while we’re on a
call. Eventually, he randomly drops that he’s pretending to be me hacking his account for the
prank, and this would permanently destroy my reputation, and he didn’t really inform me of that
before. | firmly shoot that down because that’s insane and there’s no reason I'd agree to that, |
tell him | want no association with that; so | tell him to just fess up and tell them the truth. He’s
hesitant to do that and instead seems to want to deflect blame or backlash, so he thinks about
blaming it on other people. By a certain point, he’s being incredibly suspicious; so | just start
recording using OBS.

TRANSCRIPT:
Me:
“.yeah.”

Bradley:
[indecipherable]

Me:
“Oh.”

Bradley:
“But uh.. at least they don'’t think you’re.. insane.

(very long pause)

Me:
“..Okay.”

Bradley:
“Okay well, we should probably never try anything like that again. Deal?”

Me:
“Yeah.”

Bradley:
“Okay'”

(pause)
Bradley:

“Ah fuck.. I'm actually fucking scared now, this was so stupid of me. Fuck dude, why am | a
dumbass.”



Me:
“Wh-.. why do they even believe that.. | actually hacked you?

Bradley:
‘I don’t know man.. and .. | explained it really badly, it's like my story didn’t line up and shit.
Fuckin’.. god.”

Eventually, ToastedCherries unblocks me and talks to me directly and tells
me that he’s aware Bradley’s manipulative, then gives me crucial insight on
what actually happens internally behind closed doors. He states that
despite the fact that we’ve been friends since 2014-2016 and this actually
just happened because | wasn’t okay with the group masturbation session;
| can’t be re-integrated into his friend group because it would be
“awkward,” but the two of us can still occasionally talk. He also agrees to
try to hear my side if theres another massive drama in a civil discussion
without immediately blocking me. But eventually with zero explanation | get
blocked. - April 6th 2021 to July 2021

ToastedCherries then contacts me. | give him my discord, and we talk directly from that platform.

B telc.png
ToastedCherries says here he might've just misremembered it. He did not misremember it,
according to messages | received later in this instance of communication.

B te2c.png
B te3c.png
| catch “Bradley” in a pretty clear lie. ToastedCherries states that he’s been conned.

B tedc.png

For context, “Bradley” was introduced around 2019, then manufactured this drama in 2020. |
had at this period known ToastedCherries since September 2015, B kno1.png and at the
earliest 2014. B kno2.png

The entire conflict happened because a 6-month drama happened because | questioned things,
because | wasn’t comfortable with a group masturbation session to leaked nudes of a minor,
and simply cared about consent.
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If you abandoned your friend, were consistently rude towards him afterwards over something
that insane and seemingly realized that was because you were fed complete lies, and you truly
now have a problem with that, the first thing you should do is apologize profusely, promise to
never do it again, and then not continually associate with the person who manufactured it. It
should not be to tell your friend that you can’t be as close with him because it'd be “awkward.”

[here]

TC shares responsibility for pressuring me for ownership of the server; abusing the chaos of the
situation, potentially letting people flat-out delete evidence once he’s owner; and not bothering
to look at the basic facts of the situation from my point of view.

With today’s context, it reads like TC sweeping the situation under the rug; in a PR-friendly and
presentable way.

| ask for more questions about this situation.
B Apic.png

ToastedCherries mentions that he & a friend were already extremely suspicious of Bradley. He
also says “tbh i flip-flopped on sides like 20 times”

B Ap2c.png
After | ask who the current members of the friend group are, he lists names.

| also ask him if he was aware of “Daniel’s
year. As a typo; | accidentally say “me.”

conversation which happened in January of that

B Ap3c.png
I ask him what misconceptions were spread about me.

The first one is censored to protect privacy.

The second one is insane. From ToastedCherries; | learn “Bradley” spread rumors that | was
sexually attracted to a specific celebrity. In the context of this screenshot, the name of the
celebrity is censored in black.

It's a disturbing shock for various reasons

- In a group DM? Man, what the fuck.

- It's never explained why “Bradley” did this, but it makes me feel extremely creeped out
and violated. If you need to rely on weird tactics continually to prove your side, you are
not a good person.

- |l think by this point in time, and by reading the rest of this document; you can “Bradley”
has an extremely sick idea of what a “joke” is and a disregard for being a normal human
being and projects his insecurities on others. | have memories of him telling me in clear
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detail that he was sexually attracted to this specific celebrity. Being fair, | never mention it
or try to dig up a screenshot of that because that revelation coupled with everything |
already have at this point in time is already weird enough.

- The specific celebrity, most notably is an adult and not a “porn star” that seemingly looks
13 or 12. If this weird rumor was true, it would have zero relevance to the situation. It's a
humiliation attempt.

- Furthermore, would a completely innocent or genuine person need to do something like
this?

- If “Bradley” “moved on” would he need to do this?

B Ap4c.png
I inform him how what Bradley did is extremely weird and creepy. ToastedCherries mentions
how it weirded him out too.

B Ap5ca.png
| consider confronting “Bradley” about lying out of his teeth.

In the context of this screenshot, black refers to a member of the friend group who was kicked
out; though over completely legitimate reasons. Their name is censored due to a lack of
relevance to the situation.

TC decides that he should clarify with a friend group member that was present during
“Bradley’s” fabricated hacking allegations. The member states that “Bradley” did not make it
clear that the allegations of me hacking his Discord account were fabricated until now, and said
it was his sister who apparently hacked/gained control of his account after.

B Ap6c.png
| then ask more questions. | also talk to him about “Bradley's” complete dishonesty towards the
situation.

TC asks that first question. The friend group member replies, saying that “Bradley” claimed that |
gave his sister the login details; where she then carried out the prank.

Bradley’s caught in a gigantic lie, because this makes zero sense and just as much sense
as his insinuations that pornstars can look like 13/12 year old girls from his school.

- How and why would | even get “Bradley’s” login details for his discord account? That’s
on another level of unrealistic, especially considering I'm very clearly not a saturday
night cartoon villain with zero moral compass (because | wasn’t okay with a group
masturbation session to leaked child nudes) and a supergenius hacking ability.

- ltis extremely hard to hack a Discord account, get the details for it and then share it
around.

- How and why would | then after that talk to someone he was biologically related to; and

tell them to orchestrate a prank of that severity?
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- Why would his biologically related sister agree to that, especially considering how | was
either villainized or someone she didn’t even know?
- Atthis point, this is just a fanfic with how incredibly bizarre it is.

B Ap7c.png
| re-send the video that was sent to him through Twitter.

B Ap8c.png
I make the decision to confront “Bradley.” ToastedCherries says “okay”

| also decide to call him to show him evidence that he may have missed.

B Ap9ca.png
| show him two screenshots.

The first one is “Bradley” accidentally fessing up. Here’s an extended version which is shown
earlier in the doc with his claimed motives. B wtf1c.ong R wtfc.png Again, those two
screenshots come across as incredibly manipulative, and trivializing suicide with zero shame to
manipulate people while your friend is dealing with an actual legitimate situation is disgusting.

The second one is an excerpt from the iPad screenshot shown earlier in the doc, which is
threatening and gives off an extremely creepy aura. B threat1.jpg

ToastedCherries writes how he was always suspicious of both sides, because “Bradley”
changed his story a lot on extremely crucial details. He talks about how the first screenshot

directly conflicts with “Bradley’s” manipulative threats to commit suicide if he were to get in
trouble for the log cabin incident, which proves how manipulative he is.

B Ap10c.png

He’s shown more evidence on the call. He also talks about how a lot of major details changed in
the situation too, not just the age of the girl. Most notably, how it changed from “we shared
nudes from this girl and had a group masturbation session”to “oh my friend showed me a
pornstar that looked like her” which is an incredibly stark difference.

I've debated showing this last portion of the screenshot, but | feel it may be necessary for
context. He states that he’s only friends with “Charles” because they’re in a music duo together.
Regardless of how you look at it, or the perspective you look at it from, that’s a strange reason
to continually associate with someone and comes across as manipulative.

B Ap1ic.png
| ask him about how sides changed, since he mentioned it previously.

B Ap12c.png
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I ask him if he’s going to remain friends with Bradley. He says i don’t even know

| provide him with screenshots of me confronting Bradley about his weird actions. B Witf3.png
(Analyzing Witf3.png)

Here, “Bradley” is referring to a document that was written explaining the history of their friend
group; which he claims was written only by his friends - which contained similar extreme
falsehoods about me and extreme amounts of insults. The only thing is? In the entire
conversation, | don’t even mention a doc once. That’s incredibly suspicious. | tried to recover the
doc while researching for this but it appears to have been privated or deleted; so it won’t be
something I'll be analyzing in this document.

To my memory, the document dehumanized me, contained extreme falsehoods, called me
“crazy” someone who had the group “rent free,” made fun of me for using the 2 syllable word
“hive mind,” and was not pleasant at all.

If Bradley truly had no involvement with this document he refers to unprompted, the morally right
thing to do would be to not let his friends parrot his made up fanfiction and repeat it as solid fact.
If we're taking his word as fact, he’s still incredibly wrong here. Judging by how insane his lies
already are, even this is false. It took me a minute to recover a screenshot from a mediation
done by one of my friends which showed that he was aware of, approving of, and complicit of
what was written in said document. B doc1.png

That entire conversation with Bradley: W cfri.ong B cfr2.ong R cfr3.png
You can notice how manipulative the conversation is.

He croaks a situation that he manufactured, lied about and blew out of proportion because | was
uncomfortable with stories about a group masturbation session, and his friend leaking nudes of
a minor to several people to something that | needed to apologize for and that | apparently had
fault in.

Again, because of his actions; | was abandoned over completely false and made up pretenses -
isolating me; while being actively abused at home and in the worst and most depressing period
of my life.

The moment the evidence is shown to his face, and he’s about to be caught in a lie; he softens
up, acts nice - but blocks me before | can ask more questions.

Based on the screenshots seen here and throughout the document, you can also see how
desperately he tries to shield a fair investigation of any kind, how he tries to shield anyone
calling him out on his obvious BS, and the extreme lengths he goes to discredit me.

B agre1.png
He writes how he’s decided that if “Bradley” does one more slight thing, he is going to block
them because he is not trustworthy.
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B Ap13c.png

The only thing noteworthy after that is this screenshot, which is where ToastedCherries agrees
to hear my side civilly next time a major drama breaks out without immediately blocking me and
assuming outlandish things. In black, he’s talking about something unrelated; because | ask him
this question while we’re reminiscing about Roblox.

The rest of my DMs with ToastedCherries are irrelevant to the situation / brush on things that
were already covered.

After a certain period of time, he stops responding to my messages; then without explanation
I’'m blocked. To this day, | have received no explanation as to why. According to join logs,
Bradley continually comes back to his server, ® uOc.png B uic.png and is so close to the him
to the point where he’s given admin. B bradley1.png B bradleyalt.png .

July 2021 “Bradley” instance.

(next section continued on next page)

| find “Bradley” has somehow been forgiven once again, and has rejoined.
In that timeframe, | get doxxed on ToastedCherries’s discord server by one
of his friends, while “Bradley” laughs at it and encourages it. For context,

the doxxer is the same person who previously used the words “victimless
sex crime” in an extremely uncomfortable defense. - September 12th, 2021
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B dox1.png (full res)

So | was alerted to this and | was absolutely terrified. On September 12th of 2021, “Daniel”
found a video from my personal TikTok account; that only friends from school, and really trusted
people had access to. The TikTok video he shared had my face on it, my room, and doxxed the
name of my personal account. (The TikTok is not pictured for obvious reasons) To this day, |
have no idea how or why he found it.

“‘Daniel” then said my real full name: my first and last name, then “joked” about sending me an
anthrax letter. “Bradley” cheered him on, encouraged him, likely triggered and caused it; and his
other friends laughed along.

This just made me feel powerless and worthless. | had been going through so much at home, in
my life and general, had extreme trust issues in everyone, | consistently gave these guys the
benefit of the doubt, tried to care for them and let them walk over me; and they still felt it was
necessary for some reason dox and bully me and invade my privacy, as some twisted
punch-line to a “joke” when | was at my lowest. When | found the messages; TC had already
reached their first million views on a video and had around 37 thousand subscribers, the server
had around 700+ people in it, was officially a link on his channel, and was officially 13+.

To this day, I've received no apology or explanation from anyone as to why the person who said
I wasn’t “full of shit” or “wasn’t a bad person” or the friend group that seemingly moved on, was
creeping around on my socials, felt it was necessary to dox me and bully me when they knew
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very well the horrible stuff | had been dealing with, and the insane degrees of “Bradley’s”
manipulation. Upon processing this, it was what made me draw the line and decide to take
action. | suspected it was over what happened in June 2021 as that was the only logical
conclusion, though | never received any confirmation on that.

The conversation, from what my friends have shown me, has been since deleted. It took me
having to literally personally reach out to ToastedCherries to get it removed. “Bradley” is still an
extremely close friend to TC, and | have seen no concrete evidence to prove “Daniel” is not to
this day; or if he was ever disciplined for doxxing me.

| confront “Bradley.” - November 12th 2021

In this conversation, | confront “Bradley” about the doxxing, and now about the flashbacks |
have of his sexual indiscretions towards me, which were at that point in time 1 year ago. By this
point in time, this had gone too far to not be addressed. The conversation is incredibly dark, so
I’m going to share what I'm comfortable sharing.

B BL1cc.png

| type up a massive google doc, trying to explain how miserable his actions made me feel, how
uncalled for they were - though still at times buying his manipulation and projection; so |
apologize for the jokes and memes because he took great offense to them, as | assume that
was his reason for encouraging his friends to dox me. He never confirms if that’s actually true to
me. | still explain to him though in the document how obvious jokes and memes don’t come
anywhere close to his actual legitimately serious and depraved actions.

He says he doesn’t know why I’'m coming to him, it's not his fault, he didn’t do that, it's
ToastedCherries’s and his friends’s fault because | no longer associate with them. It's an
obvious deflection of blame, so | ask why he encouraged them, and was completely complicit in
that.

B BL2.png

He simply says, if I did do that; (legit not even taking responsibility for something he clearly
did and would remember because it was 2 months ago) that was pretty stupid of me. | ask
him if he’s even read the document, he says he’s “I skimmed through it ill read it now though”
He claims that ToastedCherries’s discord is private, despite the fact that in the very first
message | mention how | was able to read it because more than 700 people were on it.

B BL3c.png

He then says, it was just a joke bro. | wouldn’t actually have my friends send you an anthrax
letter, lol. What kind of joke is that, by the way? What's the punchline, except for harassment?
Who the hell else is laughing except for one giant circlejerk? I’'m sure many of you readers
wouldn’t consider that a joke at all if it was done to you by someone as just blatantly cruel as
“Bradley.” Bullies, narcissists, and manipulators frame their sick attempts at abuse are just
“jokes,” and I’'m sure many of you who are reading this have been told similar by people who
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have bullied you in the past. A more naive, traumatized and easily manipulated me shrugs it off,
despite the fact that | say it sent me into a panic attack and made me miss class.

Bradley is also manipulative and hypocritical, because he claims in December that no one
would ever do something like this. B lie1.png

B bl4c.png
B BI5c.png

As for the flashbacks; despite me not wanting to believe my memories because it conflicted with
my still rosy perception of the past - | then confront “Bradley” about it with a description from an
email he didn’t read from August; B email.png and he admits to it, and says that he’s sorry for
making me uncomfortable. It's not a strong apology; it's a pretty small one for everything he’s
done, he doesn’t apologize for gaslighting me, lying to me and his friends and pretty much just
projecting all along.

B BL7c.png

| talk about the situation more, attempting to get more information and he stops responding.
That makes me think his mental health is declining rapidly, and makes me feel as if he’s about
to self-harm. | plead with him to not die or spiral, | tell him it's okay because he was just dumb
and young - and then he ends it off by saying he never wants me to mention it again for any
reason.

B BL8c.png

| ask him to just let me tell the truth to my former friends and let them hear my side so he stops
just damaging my reputation for no reason, he just tells me that they don’t want anything to do
with me. He evades responsibility and just shifts the blame onto other people; like he’s done so
many times before. He names Cherry, “Daniel,” then names quite literally all of Cherry’s closest
friends, and says that they’d try to dox me, harass me and ruin my life next time, not him. | ask
him if he’s okay. He says yeah and tells me he never wants to see me again.

B BL9c.png
I’'m then blocked.

Given his response, | feel horrible and completely disoriented. He has not seemed to have
learned his lesson or made a proper effort to change from his actions. Based on his lack of clear
remorse or taking responsibility, | then make the decision to inform ToastedCherries.

I make the decision to inform ToastedCherries about how abusive and
manipulative “Bradley” really is.. again. | decide to inform him about
Bradley’s sexual harassment; show him Bradley’s confession, and | inform
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him about how incredibly uncomfortable the doxxing made me. - November
12th 2021

B tex1c.png
The initial message, where | inform ToastedCherries about how “Bradley” behaved towards me.

Notice one key detail: “I've distanced from them quite a lot in the last few months especially,”
which implies he has already cut him off.

B tex2c.png
By “dark humor,” ToastedCherries is referring to racial humor.

He gives more detail about how “Bradley” was cut off.

B tex3ca.png
Extreme amounts of detail, screenshots and receipts. Here’s the email. B email.png

B tex4c.png
Maple says he’s processing it. He also in this part of the conversation realizes it's me.

He states “no you're completely fine, you're in the right”

B tex5c.png

He writes that he’s trying to grasp all of this, and says he’s sorry that this happened to me. He
writes that he associates with people who seem to be much better, but he could never really
know because a thing like this could happen.

| previously write this as if | did something unforgivable that | can’t ask forgiveness for. | didn't.
It's more of shock related to paranoia and consistent disturbing revelations than anything of
substance. Naturally, if your abuser doxes you who previously fabricated allegations of
attempting to ruin his life, attempts to get most of your former friends to abandon you who then
turn into big Roblox YouTubers shortly after you're gone, you will be paranoid. Reflecting on my
time in that group; a lot of the members were toxic all around, and usually | was the one who
told people to calm down and not fight over useless things - or call someone out when they
became too insane.

B tex6c.png
| also show him the screenshot of “Bradley” encouraging people in his server to dox me.

| ask him “did he manipulate you guys again?” TC replies: “no, not this time”

In this screenshot and throughout the entire conversation, ToastedCherries provides no
explanation as to why that happened. He does not for the rest of the conversation too.
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B tex7c.png

In a certain part, | say:

“l thought you guys weren’t gonna forgive him for the whole “hacking” incident where he falsely
accused me of hacking him - that was fucking weird dude.”

I’'m essentially asking Cherry why “Bradley” is so consistently forgiven for committing blatantly
horrific actions, but how extreme double standards are consistently applied to me; where I'm
usually completely forgotten and ignored.

There is no response to that.

In the next portion of the conversation, we talk about members of the friend group who
voluntarily left, or were kicked out. I've decided to not show this portion to protect privacy, and
due to its irrelevancy to this situation.

B tex7ca.png

B tex8c.png
I ask him if he needs permission to tell his friends, he says that he knows of only one person
who actually still talks to “Bradley,” as an implied joke.

B tex9c.png
| show ToastedCherries more of the conversation showing his friend “Bradley’s” confession.

B tex10c.png

Here | ask him if he still “hates me.” He says while he doesn’t want to be friends or associate
with me again, he does not “hate” me. | then ask him if | could talk to him again in 3-5 years. He
says “maybe every 2 years, fine but i dont know what my response would be”

This screenshot is crucial for several reasons

1) TC'’s basis for initially abandoning me was based on completely false pretenses, which
were later proven to be extremely weird. There was also zero explanation for why he
blocked me without warning later after in the instance where | proved those previous
pretenses false and weird.

2) By this period in time, they have continually re-invited, forgiven and re-associated with
“Bradley,” consistently after he is proven again and again to do depraved actions.

3) “Bradley,” who was consistently proven to be depraved; who confessed to even more of
his actions, then rejoins TC’ li rver 5 months later., B uic.png

4) | actually do wait 2 years. 2023 comes, | find out he’s misled me; | confront him about it,
I’'m blocked; then banned.
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B tex11c.png

Over the course of 10 days, | seriously think about the situation more; and decide | do not want
to be silent. To my memory, | planned on asking him serious questions; such as the double
standard that | noticed - such as how “Bradley” was continually re-invited and given numerous
chances for already depraved behavior, and why my dox was allowed onto his server, or up for
so long.

| am blocked with no explanation. To this day, | am still blocked on this account.

Nevertheless; still not fully processing or being able to deduct what this really
means - | actually do wait until 2023.

It's time for me to take a serious look at the situation, and | find that “Bradley” is
still in the group. Furthermore, “Bradley” says that he’s going to be in a new
video. I’m horrified. - November 2023

B uic.png B newvideo.png

Right off the bat, this raises so many questions for me. Firstly in the earlier conversation, Maple
claims that “Bradley” was already cut off of the friend group. He is also clearly aware of
“Bradley’s” tendency to be a pathological liar and be extremely manipulative, but he’s now in his
server as an admin? B bradley1.png B bradleyalt.png Even earlier before that, he claims that

he and several members were already suspicious of him.

Maple previously mentioned that I'm a victim of “Bradley’s” abuse, who is completely in the right.
Despite this, he states that he doesn’t want to associate with me. Yet, for some reason an

abuser like “Bradley’s” actions are completely excusable as compared to my lack of actions.

Now this begs the question: how did someone like this who pn-top of being manipulative was
then proven to be a sexual harasser months later, regain contact with Cherry or his friends, and
why did they entertain or engage with that conversation?

According to join logs; as early as April 14th 2022, “Bradley” rejoined. This raises even more
questions, as it took him just 5 months to be forgiven for horrific actions - on top of numerous
other second chances for other deranged behavior; but without an explanation as to why, | have
to wait 2 whole years for ToastedCherries to even consider associating with me again. It's an
insane double standard, and judging by the fact that | was completely misled; it completely
changed my view on the situation.

| tell him I’'m severely disappointed in him for straight up covering for an obvious
abuser and manipulating me. | feel tired and overwhelmed, so | go to bed.

B stel.png

B ste2c.png

Large portions of this message are redacted to protect privacy. It details the gist of the situation.
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You can tell how I'm frustrated with how messed up this situation is, while somehow still having
a degree of some sympathy for TC near the end in the off-chance that this is still, some gigantic

misunderstanding.

The next day, Cherry has blocked me; because he’s been caught and | can’t rejoin

his server because I've been banned. - November 2023
This shows that unfortunately even now with time, his morals have not evolved or changed. |

begin heavy research for this document shortly afterwards, and complete it in April

My current friends check the server, then his channel because they’re extremely

pissed off. They find even weirder stuff. - November 2023
Some of the screenshots they took are already shown.

His videos.
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¥r This video contains depictions of child abuse. Viewer discretion is advised.

In this video, I'm going to be taking a deep dive into a disturbing YouTube webseries made in 2021 that documents an old Roblox player's slow
indoctrination inta a cult throuah video tours of Roblox aames he sunnosedlv created throuahout 2009. This is the storv of Brandon Works.

Posted August 21st 2023
1M Views

My friends alert me to these two videos.

It appears that ToastedCherries has made two separate video essay videos that cover serious
topics like sexual abuse, child abuse, sexual harassment, emotional abuse, general abusive
behavior, and allegations. Given how long videos of this size take to make - how much
research, and thinking usually are put into videos like this, he would’ve had to understand the
psychological impact that abuse can have on victims.

It frustrated me that this happened in the time frame where “Bradley” was in his discord server,
and also well after the time frame where TC was well aware of “Bradley’s” depraved behavior. It
took me aback more that when it’s toppled with the fact that when | confronted TC about how he

was friends with “Bradley,” | was banned, and blocked once again.

The comments on these videos were genuinely surreal to view, having known what has gone
behind the scenes. They're people talking about their own personal stories, and their own
personal hardships; and ironically how situations like these are never expected.



The comments horrified me, and were what made me come to the decision to make this
document. You cannot make these videos, while having abandoned one of your best friends
who you knew for 5 years, while he’s being actively abused at home, because they become
somewhat uncomfortable with consistent and repeated stories told by 2 people you just met of a
group masturbation session to illegally spread nudes of a minor. You cannot then be
consistently shown confession after confession that proved this person in particular lied out of
his teeth for dubious reasons, would lie again, be completely aware of what he’s done, see him
continue to do more depraved actions, and still continually associate with him. You cannot
manipulate, and mislead victims; no matter how famous you are or how much virtue signaling
you may do. Publishing videos like this to millions of people, then turning around and doing
something like this in private is a complete slap in the face to victims and it's the reason why
we’re so afraid to come forward.

Furthermore, after a quick search; a confirmed four videos containing “Bradley” are still up on
ToastedCherries’s channel. They link Bradley’s social media, and his name. They most likely
were never taken down. They were posted on August 9th 2021, August 18th 2020, and
November 1st 2020.

The video posted on August 9th 2021 was uploaded after TC was made well aware of his
friend’s extremely manipulative behavior, was shown receipts, and claimed he realized it.

The video posted on November 1st 2020 was after “Bradley” began his manipulative rampage.

I mention Cherry covered this webseries which covers child abuse. | watched parts of it as a
part of research for this document, and large aspects of it reminded me of the hardship | faced
at home while | was abandoned. | could really hardly get through it because of the emotions it
brought out in me, and | nearly cried at the ending.

Conclusions - April 2024

I've decided it would be most honest to directly address the most involved people here in my
closing statements.

Maple. | heard your words, but overtime | paid more attention to your actions. They are
disgusting and indefensible, and | still find it hard to process or make sense of this situation
because the more | research and re-read it, the more questions | have. | have no idea what your
motives are, and it's hard to grasp that you are not the same person that | used to know. You
abandoned one of your best friends and left him for dead in the already worst period of his life,
for someone who you knew for a year; for an already extremely uncomfortable and weird
reason. You and his enablers then made extremely weird, creepy and contradictory defenses of
this person. You eventually seemingly repeatedly recognized that you were in the company of
abusive people who were manipulative and pathological liars, apparently cut them off; but for
some reason continued to associate with them for years, pretended like it never happened and
then promptly swept my existence under the rug and misled me. You then made videos about


https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gaWtl4K5ylE&list=PL2OMNvqhJTg_4s2kHFYNu_ho32Rn7gzGd&index=1

numerous forms of abuse repeatedly; [1] [2] which makes me believe you would understand the
psychological impact abuse has on victims, but when it happened in your own life to someone
you knew since 2015 for 5 years, you didn’t mind abandoning them because of your own
comfort. When you said you were stressed, | covered up my own depression for you to be
happy. | repeatedly gave you chances to just change and grow as a person, but you
continuously abused my sympathy and lied to my face. You and the people who enabled and
swept this under the rug caused years worth of trauma and suffering for me, and these actions
were categorically evil. After all of this extreme abuse of trust, | cannot distinguish your moral
standing from “Bradley’s." | believe you and everyone who enabled this should apologize and
take genuine responsibility, because this is incredibly disgusting and judging by the fact that it's
a very clear pattern it raises so many other implications. If even after all of this, you wish to do
anything but take responsibility; you decide you wish to cover it up, take my words out of
context, use theatrics, victim blame and lie; people who look up to you and admire you who
don’t truly know any better might believe you, but it's just going to be incredibly disappointing to
watch. The only thing you needed to do was just be a good person, care about your friends, and
simply practice what you preach; but you have repeatedly failed to do that.

To the person | referred to as “Bradley:” while you manufactured and completely caused this
creepy thing to apparently “save your life” (which you went on to admit was completely false)

B wific.png B wifc.png and then eventually to “save the life” of someone who leaked nudes,
you failed to consider that you were effectively doing what you were rallying against; ruining my
life - in the already most traumatic period of my life without any regard for my safety. Throughout
this entire situation, you were incredibly egocentric, did not mind continuously lying out of your
teeth over serious things and manipulating everyone around you to evade any form of backlash.
You had no regard for basic moral standards. It's not a fairy tale. | still live in the exact same
household, going through even worse abuse at the hands of my family and to this day | still
suffer from serious trust issues. You found it funny for some reason to make me even more
depressed, traumatized and abuse me more on top of what | was going through at home, and
isolate me from people | knew because | was not comfortable with a group masturbation
session in a forest to leaked nudes. While your life has surely changed, mine has not. | have
lived every day in fear since 2020. None of you helped me, none of you tried to “save my life.”
You rather told me to just “move on” and suck it up from something you wholeheartedly caused.
Your disgusting actions could have ended my life, but instead of being honest about what you
did; you continued to gaslight and not inform people of what you made up. | helped you and
“Charles” pass school by doing your homework entirely for you, | tried to help you at every step,
| pleaded with you. And how did you repay me? You lied to everyone. You abused my kindness
and my sympathy. You viewed my suffering, my life as a mere joke and a punchline, and when |
told you it wasn’t funny and you needed to stop, you said move on. And when you said move
on, you meant move over, shut the up, and let me do whatever | want. You questioned why |
cared so much, you questioned why | called you out and never truly rolled over. No one is
laughing at your jokes.

My closing statement: It really is not rocket science to figure out the basics of this situation.
From start to finish, this information shows a clear and continuous pattern of extreme levels of
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manipulation - and a complete lack of empathy. Re-reading these messages, | have found no
evidence of anyone here having actual remorse for anything committed, no actual apologies or
anyone really talking about the impact their harmful actions have had on those they hurt; rather
just excuses, guilt tripping, lies and manipulative calls for to “move on” and shut up so their
reputations can be preserved.

Nearly everyone who enabled this situation has had multiple attempts to come clean and
completely apologize, and take the appropriate actions to better themselves; but have abused
those chances and not learned. Re-reading these screenshots and analyzing them has almost
made me puke on multiple occasions because of how strange they come off as.

None of these actions are forgivable with time alone, because they are extremely alarming at
any age. When people avoid the bare minimum of apologizing, when they aren’t held
accountable for disgusting actions they do, when they take zero actual steps to learn from their
actions; they do not change and continue to commit them.

| do not take releasing information like this lightly, so | have approached the situation with
impartiality; fairly evaluated and researched every point made here on all sides to the best of my
ability, and have still come to the conclusion that this is alarming and disturbing enough to be
called out.

While numerous behaviors and actions here are depraved, likely raise other serious
implications, and disappointment in this situation is thoroughly justified - | do not
condone any illegal forms of harassment.

Conversely, as for the witnesses here; if they haven’t talked to you recently, they do not
want to be contacted for any reason, harassed for “evidence” or for attempts to reach
me. In the most professional manner possible, this message is mostly directed for
“Bradley.”



